ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Anderson County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

GEORGE GRANT JR.,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213347

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for opening the door for testimony to be admitted regarding Grant's pending CDVHAN charge with the same victim?
2. Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, that the pending CDVHAN charge was prejudicial and should not come in after the trial judge ruled that the CDVHAN was relevant and admissible?

STATEMENT

In November 2006, the Anderson County Grand Jury indicted George Grant, Jr. on the charges of burglary first degree, kidnapping, and criminal sexual conduct first degree (CSC). On August 12, 2008, Grant proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. and a jury. Grant was represented by Scott Robinson, and the state was represented by Kristin W. Reeves. The jury found Grant not guilty of the burglary first degree, but found him guilty of the CSC first degree and the kidnapping. App. 305, ll. 1 – 25. Judge Maddox sentenced Grant to twenty-four years on the CSC suspended to fourteen years with five years probation; and to twelve years on the kidnapping to run concurrently. App. 326, ll. 13 – App. 327, ll. 9. Grant's attorney filed a notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Grant's convictions and sentences on June 14, 2011. State v. Grant, Op. No. 2011-UP-295 (Ct. App. filed June 14, 2011).

On February 22, 2012, Grant filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on May 22, 2012. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 2, 2012 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Grant was represented by Linda Whisenhunt, and the state was represented by Karen Ratigan. On December 3, 2012, Judge Newman filed an order denying Grant's application and dismissing it with prejudice. Grant's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for opening the door for testimony to be admitted regarding Grant's pending CDVHAN charge with the same victim.

Grant was convicted of events alleged to have occurred on September 1, 2006. The accuser, who was the former girlfriend of Grant and with whom he had lived until recently, alleged that she was awakened at around midnight or 1:00 am when Grant entered the bedroom she was sharing with her two children. According to her, Grant "dragged" her out of the bedroom and into the living room, and sexually assaulted her twice on the living room floor. Afterward, he took her to her spare bedroom and sexually attacked her two more times. One child attempted to call 911, but, according to her testimony, he took the phone away from her. The next morning, the accuser drove Grant to another location. She then called 911, and the investigation began. App. 78, ll. 25- App. 96, ll. 10.

Before the trial started, the state made a motion to be allowed to introduce as Lyle¹ evidence a pending charge against Grant of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, against this accuser, that allegedly occurred on July 23, 2006, five weeks before these other crimes allegedly occurred. App. 60, ll. 2-6. The state wanted to admit this evidence under the theories of motive and intent. App. 60, ll. 1 – App. 68, ll. 22. The judge ruled that this conduct did not meet the Lyle standard, but ruled that it may become admissible, but that it depends "upon whether the Defendant testifies and what he says on cross." The judge also stated that "depending on what trial counsel asks the accuser on cross, the pending charge could become relevant on redirect." App. 66, ll. 9-12.

¹ State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

The accuser testified at trial. On cross-examination, Grant's trial counsel elicited from her the fact that she never characterized the attacks as a "sexual assault." App. 97, ll. 4- App. 98, ll. 20. Counsel confirmed that she told the police they had sex 5 times that night. He explored the fact there was no lighter found at the scene. App. 99, ll. 1-25. Grant helped pay her bills, and they just separated in July of that year. He explored that she knew Grant went to live with a female friend. Then he explored the fact that the police pictures did not show signs of struggle. App. 102, ll. 22- App. 103, ll. 16. He cross examined her on the fact that one could barely see a scratch in a photograph; that there were neighbors who lived nearby; there was no sign of a struggle on the couch; that the bedroom was not in disarray; there was no mark on the sheets suggesting he tried to light them on fire; that there was no evidence a bottle of alcohol had been opened; no sign of struggle in the kitchen; that she never told the police that appellant "jerked" her into the living room. App. 96, ll. 16- App.110, ll. 21.

After this, the state made a motion to be allowed to enter evidence concerning the pending CDVHAN from the earlier assault:

MS. REEVES: There was a CDV high and aggravated incident where the Defendant beat up the victim. And Mr. Robinson just went through every picture and pointed out no signs of struggle. She didn't resist him very much. No neighbors heard her screaming. Mr. Robinson thinks just because he doesn't use the word consensual, he can get into all these other reasons why she didn't resist and not open the door for me to talk about why she didn't resist. I think it's clear that she didn't resist, and she did put that in her statement to the nurse. She didn't resist—or actually in her statement to the officers. She didn't resist because she was scared of him. He's hurt her before. So I think clearly he's opened the door for me to talk about this.

App. 111, ll. 19- App. 112, ll. 7

Counsel objected by saying he did not open the door. App. 112, ll. 9 – App. 113, ll. 25.

MR. ROBINSON: Well, I'm go back to the—I'm going back to the rule itself, Your Honor, as far as the motive, identity. There are pieces of this—of this rule that are involved in this case. Common scheme or plan—

THE COURT: You can't use character and you can't prior bad acts. Okay. That's what we're talking about.

MR. ROBINSON: Right.

THE COURT: What—we've got beyond the bad acts. She wants to do it to show criminal. Tell me why you haven't opened the door. That's what I want to hear.

App. 114, ll. 1-10.

Counsel explained he was trying to discredit the witness by attacking her credibility.

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure that was one facet of your cross-examination, but I think the other facet was to show she consented to it although you didn't use the words. But just the fact that there was no evidence of a ruckus or anything other than the bedspread being pulled off the cover. And then you got into where you move around when you sleep.

App. 115, ll. 19-25.

The judge ultimately allowed the evidence into the trial:

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to allow you to go into the prior beating or whatever transpired five weeks prior because of the way the cross . . .

It's not that you did anything wrong, Mr. Robinson, but I think the insinuations you were making during the cross examination, I think, opens the door for the State to explain from this witness why she was afraid of the man and why she basically probably cooperated because of that fear.

App. 116, ll. 20- App. 117, ll. 2.

The solicitor then elicited testimony from the accuser regarding the prior incident. She testified that appellant "beat" her on July 23rd. after he found a letter she had written to a lover. He allegedly held her in the bedroom for 2 hours, and hit her three more times in the ear when she tried to call 911. She testified to her injuries: "scar tissue in my face, a hole in my tongue, contusions in the back of my head and ear bleeding." App. 126, ll. 8-12. The state then moved a number of photographs from that incident into evidence. App. 126, ll. 13-25. She had bruises on her chest

from his kicking her, and he allegedly kicked her in the back of the head. App. 119, ll. 21- App. 130, ll. 11.

Counsel objected to the accuser's testimony as leading and "going into what I mentioned in my cross." App. 124, ll. 15-17. He also objected to the introduction of the photographs saying "same objection as before." App. 126, ll. 21-15.

At his PCR hearing, Grant testified that his trial attorney was ineffective for opening the door to a pending CDV (CDVHAN) charge Grant had with the same accuser, his ex-girlfriend, that the trial judge allowed to come in. Trial counsel had told him in his opinion it would be better for Grant not to testify because it was very important that this pending CDVHAN charge not come out at trial. It was Grant's understanding that trial counsel's strategy was to keep that pending charge out. App. 346, ll. 3 – 25; App. 353, ll. 1 – App. 354, ll. 25. Grant believed that if his trial counsel had done things differently that Grant would not have been convicted. App. 349, ll. 6 – 15.

Grant testified that he was innocent because the sex was consensual. App. 358, ll. 1 – 10. Grant stated that he had a prior CDV from 2004 that was with a different woman. App. 359, ll. 17 – App. 360, ll. 1.

Trial counsel testified that he "believed that Grant had a pending charge but he was not sure exactly.", and later said he had no independent recollection of the CDVHAN charge. App. 360, ll. 6 – 25; App. 371, ll. 5 – App. 372, ll. 12. After reviewing the transcript, trial counsel testified that his strategy in Grant's case was that the sex was consensual although it may have been rough at times. Grant said that they had been in a relationship, and she let him in the house and they had consensual sex. App. 372, ll. 13 – App. 373, ll. 24.

Counsel's strategy was also to undermine the accuser's credibility. App. 373, ll. 25 – App. 374, ll. 25.

Trial counsel said he tried to keep the pending CDV charge out as he knew it would be detrimental to his strategy for it to come in. He believed he argued against the state's pretrial motion to admit the charge that it was too prejudicial and was not relevant under Rule 404, SCRE. The judge ruled pretrial that the pending charge was not admissible, but that it was a fine line and the judge would re-evaluate it depending on counsel's cross examination of the accuser. App. 375, ll. 2 – App. 378, ll. 5.

Counsel did not believe that he opened the door but the trial judge ruled that he did. The judge let the pending CDVHAN come in. App. 378, ll. 8 – App. 380, ll. 24.

The PCR attorney argued in his closing that trial counsel failed to walk the fine line between discrediting the accuser and preventing the pending CDVHAN charge from coming in. PCR attorney argued that this was an improper exercise of professional judgment. App. 390, ll. 15 – App. 391, l. 18.

The PCR judge ruled that he found Grant's testimony to not be credible while he found trial counsel's testimony to be credible. App. 414. The PCR judge ruled that Grant did not meet his burden of proving trial counsel opened the door to testimony that prejudiced his case.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable

professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

In Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007), the Supreme Court held that to prove that counsel was ineffective, the applicant for post-conviction relief (PCR) must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different; a reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.

In their opinion, the Court of Appeals held that an appellant cannot complain of prejudice resulting from the admission of evidence to which he opened the door. State v. Grant, Op. No. 2011-UP-295 (Filed June 14, 2011).

Trial counsel opening the door to allow a pending CDVHAN charge involving the same accuser to come into evidence was extremely prejudicial to Grant. But for that, there was a reasonable probability that the jury would have believed the sex was consensual. Because of the prior CDVHAN incident, the jury had cause to believe the accuser complied with the sex out of fear.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, that the pending CDVHAN charge was prejudicial and should not come in after the trial judge ruled that the CDVHAN was relevant and admissible.

Before the trial started, the state made a motion to be allowed to introduce as Lyle² evidence a pending charge against Grant of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, against this accuser, that allegedly occurred on July 23, 2006, five weeks before these other crimes allegedly occurred. App. 60, ll. 2-6. The state wanted to admit this evidence under the theories of motive and intent. App. 60, ll. 2- App. 68, ll. 22. The judge ruled that this conduct did not meet the Lyle standard, but ruled that it may become admissible, but that it depends “upon whether the Defendant testified and what he says on cross.” The judge also stated that “depending on what trial counsel asked the accuser on cross, the pending charge could become relevant on redirect.” App. 66, ll. 9-12.

Trial counsel argued against the state’s motion that the pending charge of CDVHAN was too prejudicial to come in. He argued also that it did not fit under Rule 404, SCRE. App. 64, ll. 19 – App. 65, ll. 24.

The accuser testified at trial. On cross-examination, Grant’s trial counsel elicited from her the fact that she never characterized the attacks as a “sexual assault.” App. 97, ll. 4- App. 98, ll. 20. Counsel confirmed that she told the police they had sex 5 times that night. He explored the fact there was no lighter found at the scene. App. 99, ll. 1-25. Grant helped pay her bills, and they just separated in July of that year. He explored that she knew he went to live with a female friend. Then he explored the fact that the police pictures did not show signs of struggle. App. 102, ll. 22- App.

² State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

103,ll. 16. He cross examined her on the fact that one could barely see a scratch in a photograph; that there were neighbors who lived nearby; there was no sign of a struggle on the couch; that the bedroom was not in disarray; there was no mark on the sheets suggesting he tried to light them on fire; that there was no evidence a bottle of alcohol had been opened; no sign of struggle in the kitchen; that she never told the police that appellant “jerked” her into the living room. App. 96, ll. 16- App. 110, ll. 21.

After this, the state made a motion to be allowed to enter evidence concerning the pending CDVHAN from the earlier assault:

MS. REEVES: There was a CDV high and aggravated incident where the Defendant beat up the victim. And Mr. Robinson just went through every picture and pointed out no signs of struggle. She didn't resist Grant's trial attorney argued against the state's motion pretrial to keep the pending CDVHAN charge Mr. Robinson thinks just because he doesn't use the word consensual, he can get into all these other reasons why she didn't resist and not open the door for me to talk about why she didn't resist. I think it's clear that she didn't resist, and she did put that in her statement to the nurse. She didn't resist—or actually in her statement to the officers. She didn't resist because she was scared of him. He's hurt her before. So I think clearly he's opened the door for me to talk about this.

App. 111,ll. 19- App. 112,ll. 7

Counsel objected by saying he did not open the door. App. 112, ll. 9 – App. 113, ll. 25.

MR. ROBINSON: Well, I'm go back to the—I'm going back to the rule itself, Your Honor, as far as the motive, identity. There are pieces of this—of this rule that are involved in this case. Common scheme or plan—

THE COURT: You can't use character and you can't prior bad acts. Okay. That's what we're talking about.

MR. ROBINSON: Right.

THE COURT: What—we've got beyond the bad acts. She wants to do it to show criminal. Tell me why you haven't opened the door. That's what I want to hear.

App. 114, ll. 1-10.

Counsel explained he was trying to discredit the witness by attacking her credibility.

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure that was one facet of your cross-examination, but I think the other facet was to show she consented to it although you didn't use the words. But just the fact that there was no evidence of a ruckus or anything other than the bedspread being pulled off the cover. And then you got into where you move around when you sleep.

App. 100, ll. 19-25.

The judge ultimately allowed the evidence into the trial:

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to allow you to go into the prior beating or whatever transpired five weeks prior because of the way the cross . . .

It's not that you did anything wrong, Mr. Robinson, but I think the insinuations you were making during the cross examination, I think, opens the door for the State to explain from this witness why she was afraid of the man and why she basically probably cooperated because of that fear.

App. 116, ll. 20- App. 117, ll. 2.

The only objection made by trial counsel was: "I just want to---I'll make my objection on the record as well, Your Honor."

App. 117, ll. 3 – 24.

When the state questioned the accuser on redirect, trial counsel made no objection under Rule 403, SCRE, that the testimony was prejudicial. App. 119, ll. 21 – App. 130, ll. 14.

At his PCR hearing, Grant testified that his trial attorney was ineffective for opening the door to a pending CDV (CDVHAN) charge Grant had with the same accuser, his ex-girlfriend, that the trial judge allowed to come in. Trial counsel had told him in his opinion it would be better for Grant not to testify because it was very important that this pending CDV charge not come out at trial. It was Grant's understanding that trial counsel's strategy was to keep that pending charge out. App. 346, ll. 3 – 25; App. 353, ll. 1 – App. 354, ll. 25. Grant believed that if his trial counsel had done things differently that Grant would not have been convicted. App. 349, ll. 6 – 15.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that after the trial judge ruled the pending charge was relevant because counsel had opened the door, counsel did not object. Trial counsel admitted that he did not object that the charge was not relevant under 404, and was prejudicial. Although counsel argued in pretrial that the charge was more prejudicial than probative, he did not renew his objection at trial after the judge allowed the charge to come in. App. 381, ll. 3 – App. 383, ll. 17.

The PCR judge ruled that Grant did not meet his burden in proving that trial counsel opened to door to testimony that was prejudicial to Grant. The PCR judge ruled that he found trial counsel's testimony to be credible while he found Grant's testimony to not be credible. App. 416. The PCR judge ruled that trial counsel did not err in failing to ask the trial judge to address the issue of the pending charge under a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis. The PCT judge wrote that it was clear that the trial judge was aware from the beginning of trial that this issue was more probative than prejudicial. Therefore, it was not necessary for trial counsel to make a specific objection on that ground. App. 417.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional

errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

In Green v. State, 338 S.C. 428, 527 S.E.2d 98 (2000), the Supreme Court held that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the prejudicial effect of admitting the defendant's prior convictions outweighed their probative value; credibility was crucial in the prosecution for distribution of crack cocaine, as the jury had to choose between the defendant's and Law Enforcement Division agents' version of events, and the defendant was impeached with evidence of two convictions for possession of cocaine that were four and five years old.