STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**RECEIVED**

JAN 16 2014

The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2012-213347

---

George Grant,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Certiorari is not warranted where evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that counsel made a valid strategic decision to risk opening the door to the State's introduction of evidence of a prior CDVHAN incident between Petitioner and victim where the alternative course of action would have inhibited any presentation of a meaningful defense. Furthermore, evidence of the prior CDVHAN incident was ultimately admissible to establish an element of the offense of burglary, first-degree, that Petitioner entered the victim's residence with the intent to commit a crime.**

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued counsel was ineffective for cross-examining the victim in a manner that opened the door to the admission of evidence of a prior CDVHAN incident between the victim and the Petitioner five weeks prior to the commission of the offense. (App.pp.346-60).

Counsel testified Petitioner's always maintained that a consensual sexual encounter with the victim resulted in false accusations of rape, burglary, first-degree, and kidnapping. Petitioner surmised that his disengagement from the romantic relationship manifested the victim's motive for revenge. (App.p.316). Counsel executed a trial strategy to undermine the credibility of the victim in line with the victim's story. (App.p.385). The State submitted physical evidence corroborated the victim's account (App.p.386). Counsel explained to Petitioner that if victim testified in a consistent manner to her detailed statement, a positive outcome of his case would in doubt. (App.p.387). Counsel was concerned because physical evidence showed consensual rough sex viewed in a light most favorable to the Petitioner or evidence of a horrid rape viewed in a light most favorable to the State. (App.p.383). Counsel viewed minor

daughter's eyewitness account of her mother's rape particularly harmful to his case. (App.p.386). As the State called its case, counsel understood the treacherously fine line between presenting Petitioner's defense and opening the door to admission of evidence the prior July 26, 2006 incident. (App.p.388). Counsel testified there was nothing else he could have done to further prepare Petitioner's case to dodge the inevitable dilemma in opening the door in exposing the jury to the prior July 26, 2006 incident.

Well if [counsel] didn't walk the tight line that he felt compelled to walk and you have at one o'clock in the morning [victim] says she's awakened by this man standing over who turns out to be her former boyfriend who proceeds to rape her. And her daughter – [the victim] screams out to her child, call 9-1-1. And the child grabs the phone, runs down the hall, attempts – or goes to try to call 9-1-1. And [Petitioner] chases her and takes the phone, proceeds to rape her in one place, then another. Given that testimony by the State, if he did not – if [counsel] did not seek to challenge her credibility or at least as a matter of strategy push the envelope to some extent, what other evidence could [counsel] have offered in defense of the charge.

(App.p.403, line 20—p.404, line 8). In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found counsel was not ineffective for opening the door to evidence of the prior July 26, 2006 incident. The PCR judge found “[Counsel] had a difficult job in this case. The defense strategy was that the sexual encounter between the parties was consensual and [counsel] believed he could undermine the victim's credibility by pointing out there were no signs of a struggle.” (App.p.417). The PCR judge noted “the trial judge disagreed and stated that its not that you did anything wrong, but that insinuation on cross-examination opened the door to testimony about the prior incident.”

(App.p.416) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

The PCR judge correctly found Petitioner failed to prove counsel was deficient in light of a counsel's objectively reasonable trial strategy. "Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel." Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). This Court recently reaffirmed the substantial deference granted to a PCR court's finding that a defense attorney's conduct constituted reasonable trial strategy. See Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 458, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011) ("Given this Court's admonition against second-guessing counsel's trial strategy, [the defense attorney's] performance and the cumulative nature of his testimony provide probative evidence under our prevailing law to support the PCR court's determination that Petitioner's attorney articulated a valid trial strategy.").

Respondent submits evidence supports not one but two findings from two judges that the potential detriment of opening the door to the prior CDVHAN incident was necessitated in order to present an effective defense. Counsel's early victory in suppressing the admission of evidence of the prior CDVHAN incident was nominal and short-lived. The trial judge's ruling hinged upon limiting counsel from breaching subject matter concerning the victim's fear of Petitioner, "**et cetera, et cetera, et cetera, or whatever, [Petitioner's] such a good guy or whatever**, and then expect [the State] not to be able to bring that out on redirect." (App.p.66, lines 20-23) (emphasis added). See Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE.

The present rape case involves a victim and defendant that were not strangers or mere acquaintances; instead they were former lovers with a turbulent history. Counsel faced the added burden of physical evidence that corroborated the victim's testimony and the minor daughter's testimony. Developing evidence of consent necessitated counsel's cross-examination of victim concerning on resistance during the commission of the offense. It was critical in a rape case where intercourse is stipulated. Simply Petitioner's actions in returning to the same home of the same victim five weeks after he was charged on July 26, 2006 with criminal domestic violence, of a high and aggravated nature, created the certain dichotomy. Counsel had to choose between lesser of two evils, forgoing a meaningful defense or exposing the jury to the prior CDVHAN incident. See U.S. v. Pellerito, 878 F.2d 1535, 1543 (1st Cir. 1989) ("If counsel was ineffective in any sense, it was only because the client rendered him so, first by keeping Noriega in the dark, and then, by refusing to heed his advice. That is not the sort of "ineffectiveness" for

which relief can be granted.”). The PCR judge found counsel’s testimony that he presented the best possible defense at trial to be credible. (App.p.414). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (“We give great deference to a judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”).

In the alternative, had counsel complied with the trial judge’s broad exclusions, he would have not been able to introduce Petitioner’s account of the victim’s motive for revenge or present Petitioner’s sisters as witnesses that testified in manner that placed Petitioner in favorable light as a man that could not escape an alleged hostile ex-girlfriend. (App.pp.76-77; pp.242-43; p.250). One sister even described an alleged stalking encounter from the victim. (App.p.249). Had counsel followed a course of conduct outlined in Petitioner’s retrospective critique, he certainly would have faced the Orwellian dilemma of now having to answer the all too familiar Chronic allegation. See United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984)([P]er-se prejudice occurs if there has been, the most egregious circumstances, a fundamental denial of the right to counsel.”). Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms.

Similarly, Petitioner failed to prove the second prong of the Strickland test – that he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance. Evidence of the prior incident was alternatively admissible because it established an element of the burglary, first-degree,

offense.<sup>1</sup> “A person is guilty of first-degree burglary if he enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling and either enters or remains in the dwelling during the nighttime. “First-degree burglary requires that, at the time the offender entered the dwelling, he intended to commit a crime once inside.” State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 398, 741 S.E.2d 521, 526 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012) (internal quotations omitted); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–311(A) (2003). Evidence of Petitioner’s prior CDVHAN incident would have been admissible to show he unlawfully entered the victim’s residence with the intent to commit violent crime against the victim.

State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 289, 676 S.E.2d 690, 696 (2009), is instructive to the present case. This Court rejected the Holder petitioner’s argument that evidence of child abuse that occurred a month prior to the Holder victim’s death constituted inadmissible propensity evidence. Id. This Court announced:

[t]he State's purpose for offering the testimony was not to show Holder had a propensity to abuse her child in conformance with a character trait. Rather, it was to show Holder's strong desire to please Martucci instead of protecting the welfare of her child and to establish an **element of the offense**, that she **manifested an extreme indifference** to the well-being of her son.

Id., at 289, 676 S.E.2d at 696. Similarly here, evidence of the prior CDVHAN incident was established the *mes rea* element of burglary, first-degree. The evidence centered on the same victim and same crime scene where Petitioner’s actions within the residence resulted in the victim being physically harmed.

---

<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR, an appellate court may affirm the lower court's judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal. The solicitor only argued the prior CDVHAN was admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and the theory of *res gestae*.

## II.

**Certiorari is not warranted where evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that counsel adequately raised a Rule 403, SCRE, objection to the admission of evidence concerning the prior CDVHAN incident. Furthermore, any alleged error would have constituted harmless error in light of the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.**

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued counsel was ineffective for not explicitly renewing his prior Rule 403, SCRE, objection once the trial judge found counsel opened the door to the admission of the evidence. Counsel testified he attempted to keep out evidence surrounding the pending CDVHAN charge. (App.p.388). The PCR judge found the objection was raised made and ruled upon. (App.p.417).

Evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that trial judge was aware from the beginning of trial of the the bifurcated nature of evidentiary issue before the court. An objection was properly made because "[a]lthough [counsel] did not state a specific objection, it is clear from the trial judge's comments he was aware of the grounds for the objection." State v. Sweet, 342 S.C. 342, 347, 536 S.E.2d 91, 93 (Ct. App. 2000)

During the motions hearing, the trial judge outlined the two pronged approach he would consider in ruling on the admissibility pursuant to Rule 404(a) first followed with a Rule 403 analysis concerning evidence of the prior CDVHAN incident. (App.p.66, lines 3-5). The trial judge subsequently announced his restrictions on counsel's ability to approach relevant subject material that were contingent to the trial judge maintaining his posture towards inadmissibility. (App.p.66). The matter was held under advisement until counsel's completion of his first cross-examination. (App.pp.67-68). The bifurcated

nature of the trial judge's ruling was readily apparent when he directed the solicitor, "[the Court] is not going to allow you to go into the facts that [Petitioner's] been charged criminally with [CDVHAN]." (App.p.117, lines 15-16). The trial judge's limitation addressed counsel's prior Rule 403 objection concerning the undo prejudice of exposing the jury to pending charges in light of the limited probative value. See Rule 103(a)(1), SCRE (a party's objection must be accompanied with a specific ground unless the specific ground is contextually apparent.). Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms.

Similarly, Petitioner failed to prove the second prong of the Strickland test – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. First, the State was compelled prove the pending prior CDVHAN incident by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Smith, 300 S.C. 216, 218, 387 S.E.2d 245, 246–47 (1989) ("Evidence of prior bad acts that are not the subject of a conviction must be establishing by clear and convincing evidence.").

Second, any alleged Rule 403, SCRE, error would have merely constituted harmless error. Evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that of Petitioner's overwhelming evidence of guilt. "A "reasonable probability of a different result does not exist when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt." Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1991). . The victim provided detailed testimony of the prolonged assault. (App.pp.64-81). The emergency room nurse testified the victim had redness around her vaginal canal. (App.pp.163; pp.165-67). DNA evidence (from the Applicant's hair, fingernail, and the semen recovered from both the victim's vaginal

canal and her underwear) was recovered. (App.pp.183-87). The victim's minor daughter testified about hearing her mother scream, seeing the Applicant on top of her mother, and the Applicant chasing her to take the phone when she tried to call 911. (App.pp,121-29; pp.131-32). Detective Hendrix testified she interviewed both of the victim's minor children and they gave stories consistent with that given by the victim. (App.p.209).

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.